This instrument was prepared by Double J Partners, 108 Center Pointe Drive, Clarksville, TN 37040.

Julie C. Runvon, Register ontgomery C ounty Tennesse 1454270 Rec #: 609192 Rec d: 80 Instru ent #: 80.00 Recorded 0.00 State: in Volume 2356 PGS 2151-2166 Clerk: a Tennessee General Partnership Total: 82.00

DEED OF RESTRICTIONS AND HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION BY-LAWS

WOFFORD ESTATES,

DOUBLE J PARTNERS,

THIS DEED OF RESTRICTIONS AND DEDICATION, executed as of the 19th day of March 2024 at Clarksville, in the County of Montgomery, State of Tennessee by DOUBLE J PARTNERS, a Tennessee General Partnership composed of Jeffery D. Burkhart, and J. Vernon Weakley, hereinafter referred to as Owner and sometimes as Developer.

WITNESSETH:

The Owner has heretofore acquired certain real estate situated in the First (1st) Civil District of Montgomery County, Tennessee, and being designated as WOFFORD ESTATES, as shown by Plat of record in Plat Book \bigcirc , Page $\mathcal{H}\varphi$ of the Register's Office for Montgomery County, Tennessee (collectively referred to hereafter as "Plat") to which reference is here made, the same being a portion of the realty conveyed to WOFFORD ESTATES, by deed of record in Volume 2094, Page 1932, in the Register's Office for Montgomery County, Tennessee; and

WHERAS the Owner desires to place suitable restrictions and covenants on all of said lots in WOFFORD ESTATES, as shown on said Plat and to dedicate such streets, roads and highways located thereon unto the City of Clarksville and/or the County of Montgomery as the case may be, and does hereby place the following reservations, restrictions, conditions and limitations on WOFFORD ESTATES, which restrictions are designed for the protection of the Owner of said real estate and the protection of those who may hereafter acquire title to any or all of the lots in said subdivision:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual benefits passing to and from the undersigned and those who may purchase the said lots in the future, the following listed restrictive covenants are hereby agreed upon and shall be covenants running with the land and shall be binding upon the undersigned and all subsequent owners thereof in any capacity whatsoever until April 1, 2054.

SECTION 1

MAINTENANCE, USE AND LOT RESTRICTIONS

- 1. All lots shown on said Plat, shall be utilized for single family residential purposes only, and only one single family residential unit shall be designed, maintained or utilized on any such lot. No structure shall be designed, constructed, maintained or utilized upon any of said lots in the nature of a commercial or business house, apartment house, duplex, apartment or institution.
- 2. No lot or building site shall again be subdivided, re-subdivided, altered or changed so as to produce less area than that established on the Plat of said subdivision, except with joint approval of the Developer and Planning Commission. The right is expressly reserved to the Developer to alter boundaries of individual lots, but only with the approval of the Planning Commission.

- 3. No structure designed or utilized for human habitation shall be erected, moved upon or maintained upon any lot as shown on said Plat that does not have the following minimum living area, exclusive of basements, garages, carports, porches, breezeways, terraces, etc:
 - (a) A single-story dwelling shall have a minimum of 2,200 square feet of living area.
 - (b) The minimum square footage of the main floor area for a one and one-half (1 ½) or two (2) story residence, exclusive of open porches, garages, terraces, etc., built upon, moved upon or maintained upon any one of the said lots shall not be less than 1200 square feet and a total finished area of not less than 2,200 square feet in the entire residence.
 - (c) The required square footage shall be determined, in each instance by measuring from the outside of each exterior wall.
 - (d) Each dwelling shall have at least a two car attached garage.
 - 4. Each residence must be faced with stucco, stone or brick on front and sides of home exterior including foundation. Other allowable exterior façade materials, in limited areas, include Hardi siding, shake, and vernicle board-and-batten. Variations in the materials may be submitted to the Architectural Review Committee for approval. Rear of home exterior can be vinal siding.
 - 5. At no time can a garage of a residence be converted into a living area.
 - 6. Any residence situated on the lot shall have a mailbox designed/approved by the Developer and all mailboxes must be of the same layout and design. If cluster mailboxes are supplied by the Developer, it will be the responsibility of Wofford Estates HOA to maintain the cluster boxes, support system, and concrete pad.
 - 7. Sidewalks shall be five feet wide and abut the adjoining road curb. If any sidewalk is ever reconstructed, it shall be placed and erected as the original sidewalk was.
 - 8. No driveway, driveway curb cut or driveway culvert shall be constructed on any lot by any person without consultation with the City of Clarksville Street Department and/or the Montgomery County Highway Department, and all such driveways, culverts and cuts shall have such City and/or County approval prior to construction of the same.
 - 9. No structure or any part thereof shall be erected, moved upon or maintained nearer to the front lot line, the sides lot lines and rear lot line than the building setback lines as shown on the recorded Plat.
 - 10. Upon commencement of construction, erection or alteration of any structure, the same shall be pursued to completion with due diligence, and no such construction efforts shall be abandoned prior to completion.
 - 11. No obnoxious or offensive trade or activity shall be carried on upon any lot, nor any condition suffered to exist upon any lot, which shall be or may become an annoyance or a nuisance to the neighborhood.
 - 12. No structure of any type except a residential dwelling house may be occupied on a temporary or permanent basis upon any lot as shown on the Plat of said subdivision except as provided in Section 16 herein.
 - 13. There shall be no trailers, mobile homes, manufactured homes or modular homes located any lot. This restriction shall include any type of residential structure that is moved onto a lot on axles and wheels.

- 14. Any campers, motor homes, RV's, boats, travel trailers or other trailers of any kind, motorcycles, tractors, lawn mowers, ATV's, go-carts or any other motorized vehicles (other than automobiles) must be stored and parked in the garage and shall not be parked outside of the garage.
- 15. Any inoperable or non-running vehicle or automobile must be removed from any street or lot in the subdivision within forty-eight (48) hours.
- 16. All accessory building(s), including, but not limited to, storage buildings and pool buildings, must architecturally match the primary dwelling located on the same lot as the accessory building. Said accessory building(s) shall be located no nearer to the street than the rear line of the primary dwelling located on the lot. Further, said accessory building must be built or screened in such a way that it is aesthetically pleasing to any street view.
- 17. Any trampolines, sandboxes, swing sets, slides, playhouses or any children's toys shall be kept in the backyard to promote a more beautiful neighborhood.
- 18. There shall be no lawn ornaments of any kind, including but not limited to artwork, statues, sculptures or other ornaments on the front or side of any lot, except the approved mailbox. Any such artwork, sculptures or other ornaments shall be removed upon written demand of the Developer.
- 19. No overnight street parking is allowed.
- 20. No above ground pools are allowed on any lot.
- 21. There shall be no outdoor television antennas allowed after such time as cable television receiving service is available in the area. There shall never be any television antennas attached to the roof of any structure. Satellite dishes shall not exceed 24" in diameter nor shall they be visible from the public road servicing the residence and said satellite dishes shall be as close to the rear of the residence as possible.
- 22. Outside clotheslines and clothes hanging devices shall not be permitted on any lot.
- 23. No swine, poultry, sheep, goats, horses, cattle or livestock shall be raised, pastured maintained or allowed on any lot except for traditional household pets which may be kept in reasonable numbers for the pleasure of the occupants; However, no lot shall be used for the purpose of breeding and/or selling of animals such as dogs, cats, rabbits, birds, etc.
- 24. All trash and other debris shall be stored in appropriate receptacles, which shall be suitably screened to conceal the same from the view of neighboring lots.
- 25. All fencing shall be subject to approval of the Architectural Review Committee. Fences will be permitted on Lots from the rear line of the residence to the rear property line. Said fences shall remain five feet off all side and rear lot lines and shall not tie onto adjacent fences. Only decorative metal fencing will be allowed. Metal fencing shall be aluminum, four to six feet tall. Lot owners who allow their dogs outdoors shall install and maintain a functional underground electric fence and collar system.
- 26. All easements as shown on the Plat are reserved for installation of utilities and drainage purposes as designated on said Plat.
- 27. All front yards, and side yards to the rear of the house must be sodded. Remainder of yard to be sown in predominately grass.
- 28. All driveways shall be concrete. All driveways must be 20 feet wide and must run from the street to at least the front of the residence.

- 29. The Wofford Estates Home Owners Association, Inc. shall be responsible for the Maintenance duties of the "landowner" as required in the Stormwater Maintenance Agreement recorded in Volume 2148, pages 1001, of the Register's Office for Montgomery County, Tennessee.
- 30. If any present or subsequent owner of any lot or lots in this subdivision, including their heirs and assigns, shall violate or attempt to violate any of the covenants or restrictions contained herein, it shall be lawful for any person or persons owning a lot or lots in the subdivision at the time, to institute proceedings at law or in equity against the persons violating or attempting to violate said restrictions and either to prevent such violation by injunction or recover damages for such violation.
- 31. If any one or more of the restrictions herein contained are declared invalid by any court, such invalidation shall in no way affect any other restrictions herein contained, all of which shall remain in full force and effect, each restriction being treated or separate instruments.
- 32. The covenants are to run with the land and shall be binding on all parties and all persons claiming under them for a period of thirty (30) years from the date these covenants are recorded, after which time said covenants shall automatically be extended for successive periods of ten (10) years unless an instrument signed by a majority of the then owners of the lots has been recorded, agreeing to change said covenants in whole or in part.
- 33. Failure to attempt to enforce these restrictive covenants shall not be a waiver of the right to enforce these restrictions. Further each day, a violation occurs shall be considered a new violation for enforcement provisions and shall give rise to a new cause of action for the other owners of lots in the subdivision.
- 34. These restrictions may be amended by two-thirds (2/3) of the owners of the lots in this subdivision, each lot having one vote whether or not the owner thereof owns more than one lot. Furthermore, Developer shall have the right to amend these restrictions without the consent of any other lot owner for a period of time up to 120 days after the date of sale of the last lot in these Sections.
- 35. The Owner is placing these restrictions only to the lots shown on the Plat of record first mentioned herein and nothing herein shall be construed so as to extend such restrictions to any real estate not specifically shown as a lot on Wofford Estates, recorded plat. No other real estate owned by the Owner is intended to be restricted in any way by this instrument, whether now owned by the Developer or subsequently acquired by the Developer or any other party.
- 36. The Developer may resign or withdraw from any obligations or rights of approval in these restrictions (eg. Section 2, 6 and 18) by designation of a replacement entity or person by recordation of an appropriate instrument in the Register's Office for Montgomery County, Tennessee.

SECTION II HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION BY-LAWS ARTICLE I Members (Lot Owners)

Section 1. Eligibility. The members of WOFFORD ESTATES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., a Tennessee non profit corporation (the "Association"), shall consist of the respective Lot Owners of WOFFORD ESTATES, (the "Property"). The Common Elements and Open Spaces not contained within individual lots as shown on the recorded plat of Wofford Estates, shall be owned by the Homeowners Association in accordance with the respective percentages of ownership interest in the Common Elements and Open Space of the Property owned by the respective Lot Owners. The words member or members shall refer to the owner(s) or owners of the lots in Wofford Estates, and shall be the persons or entities of which the Association is composed. Membership in the Association is mandatory and so long as a person or entity is the owner of a Lot in the Property, then such owner is a member of the Association, including the Developer.

- Section 2. Succession. The membership of each Lot Owner shall terminate when such Owner ceases to be a Lot Owner, and upon the sale, exchange, transfer or other disposition of such Owner's ownership interest in the Property, such Owner's membership in the Association shall automatically be transferred to the new Lot Owner succeeding to such ownership interest.
- Section 3. Annual Meeting. The first meeting of the Association shall be held at a time and place designated by the Developer. Thereafter, the annual meeting of the Association shall be held on the second Monday of January of each year or at the time and place specified in the notice of such meeting, but the place shall be within ten (10) miles of the Property and the meeting shall not be on a legal holiday. At the annual meeting, the members shall elect Directors, receive reports on the activities and financial condition of the corporation, and transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting.
- Section 4. Special Meetings. The Association shall hold a special meeting of its members upon the call of the Board of Directors or the President, or upon the written demand to the Secretary by Lot Owners holding at least thirty five (35%) percent of all votes entitled to be cast on any issue to be considered at the proposed special meeting. Any call or demand for a special meeting shall describe the purpose(s) for which the special meeting is to be held. Only business within the purpose(s) described in the meeting notice for the special meeting may be conducted at such meeting.
- Section 5. Notice of Meetings. The Association shall notify its Lot Owners of the date, time and place of each annual meeting and special meeting of the Lot Owners no fewer than ten (10) days, nor more than forty five (45) days before such meeting date. The notice of a meeting shall also contain such other information which may be required by these by-laws and shall be written and delivered personally or by certified return receipt mail. Such notice shall be deemed received when personally delivered or upon deposit in the USPS postage prepaid if sent by certified mail.
- **Section 6.** Waiver of Notice. A Lot Owner's attendance at a meeting waives objection to lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting unless the Lot Owner, at the beginning of the meeting (or promptly upon arrival) objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting.
- **Section 7. Voting.** The Association shall have two (2) classes of Membership, Class "A" and Class "B", as follows:
 - Class "A". Class "A" members shall be all owners of the Property with the exception of the Class "B" members, if any.

Class "A" members shall be entitled on all issues to one (1) vote for each Lot in which they hold the interest required for membership by Section 1 hereof; there shall be only one (1) vote per Lot. When more than one Person holds such interest in any Lot, the vote for such Lot shall be exercised as those Persons themselves determine and advise the Secretary of the Association prior to any meeting according to the procedures and other requirements set forth in the By-Laws. In the absence of such advice, the Lot's vote shall be suspended in the event more than one person seeks to exercise it.

Class "B". The Class "B" member shall be the Developer and any successor of Developer who takes title for the purpose of development and sale and who is designated as such in a recorded instrument executed by Developer or Developer's successor. The Class "B" member shall originally be entitled to six (6) votes for each Lot owned. The Class "B" membership shall become converted to Class "A" membership upon the happening of the earliest of the following:

- (i) when the total outstanding Class "A" votes with respect to the Property equal or exceed ninety nine percent (99%) of the total number of Lots;
- (ii) the 1st day of April, 2054;
- (iii) when, in its discretion, the Developer so determines.

From and after the happening of these events, whichever occurs earliest, the Class "B" member shall be deemed to be Class "A" members entitled to one (1) vote for each Lot in which it holds the interest required for membership under Section 1 hereof.

At such time, the HOA shall call a meeting, as provided in the By-Laws for special meetings, to advise the membership of the termination of Class "B" status.

Section 8. Quorum. Unless otherwise required by law, thirty (30%) percent of the votes entitled to be cast by Lot Owners must be represented at any meeting of the Lot Owners to constitute a quorum on that matter. If, however, such quorum is not represented at any such meeting, the Lot Owners present at the meeting in person or represented by proxy shall have the power to adjourn from time to time without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until the requisite quorum is present or represented, when any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as provided in the original notice.

Section 9. Voting Requirements. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, action on any matter voted upon at a meeting of the Lot Owners is approved if a majority of the Lot Owners vote in favor of the action. However, Directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the Lot Owners entitled to vote in the election at a meeting of the Lot Owners at which a quorum is present either personally or by proxy.

Section 10. Action by Written Consent. Action that is required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Lot Owners may be taken without such a meeting if seventy five (75%) per cent of the Lot Owners entitled to vote on the action consent to taking such action without a meeting. If the required number of Lot Owners so consent, the affirmative vote of the number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting shall be the act of the Lot Owners, except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws. Such consent (or counterparts thereof) shall describe the action taken, be in writing, be signed by each Lot Owner entitled to vote on the action, indicate each signing Lot Owner's vote or abstention on the action, and be delivered to the Secretary of the Association and included in the minutes or Association records.

Section 11. Action by Written Ballot. Any action that may be taken at any annual or special meeting of Lot Owners may be taken without a meeting if the Association delivers a written ballot to every Lot Owner entitled to vote on the matter. The written ballot shall set forth each proposed action and shall provide an opportunity to vote for or against each proposed action. Approval by written ballot shall be valid only when the number of votes cast by ballot equals or exceeds the quorum required to be present at a meeting authorizing the action, and the number of approvals equals or exceeds the number of votes that would be required to approve the matter at a meeting at which the total number of votes cast was the same as the number of votes cast by ballot. All solicitations for votes by written ballot shall:

Indicate the number of responses needed to meet the quorum requirements;

State the percentage of approvals necessary to approve each matter other than election of Directors; and

Specify the time by which the ballot must be received by the Association in order to be counted.

Section 12. *Proxy.* A Lot Owner may vote his/her interest in person or by proxy. A Lot Owner may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act for him/her by signing an appointment form, either personally or by his attorney in fact. An appointment of proxy shall be effective when received by the Secretary or other officer or agent authorized to tabulate votes. An appointment shall be valid for six (6) months unless another period is expressly provided in the appointment form. An appointment of proxy shall be revocable by the Lot Owner except as otherwise provided by law.

Section 13. Use of Association Facilities. Members of the Association in good standing shall be guaranteed the unrestricted right to utilize the lands and facilities owned by the

Association. Such use may be regulated by the association by the placement of rules and guidelines for use of such facilities as may be necessary for the orderly use and maintenance of such facilities.

ARTICLE II Board of Directors

Section 1. Number, Election and Term of Office. Until the termination of Class "B" status (the Class "B" Control Period) the Directors (the "Interim Board") shall be selected by the Class "B" member acting in the Class "B" member's sole discretion. This Article may not be amended without the express, written consent of the Class "B" member.

The Class "B" member shall have the sole discretion and determination as to the appropriate length of time which should expire before the first meeting is held and will notify the Lot Owners as to date of the first meeting.

At the first meeting, or at the termination of the Class B Control period, whichever occurs last, the Lot Owners shall, among other business, elect all but one of the members of the Board of Directors ("First Board") and the Developer shall be entitled to appoint one person to be a Board member. The Board of Directors of the Association and (sometimes referred to herein as the "Board") shall consist of a minimum of three (3) persons, but not more than nine (9) persons (hereinafter referred to as Directors). Directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of Association's Lot Owners by the vote of Lot Owners as hereinafter provided, except that the Developer shall appoint the interim Board of Directors ("Interim Board") as provided herein. Those candidates for election as Director receiving the greatest number of votes cast either in person, or by proxy, at the meeting shall be elected. Directors, except for members of the First Board, Interim Board, and the member appointed by the Class "B" member shall hold office for the term of two (2) years and until his or her successor shall be elected and qualified. The Board shall have the authority to stagger terms of members in such manner as the Board sees fit. By majority vote, the Board shall determine which members shall serve for one (1) year and which members shall serve for three (3) years.

After termination of the Class "B" Control Period, the Developer shall have the right to participate in the decision making process and the right to disapprove all actions of the Board. These rights shall be exercisable only by the Developer, the Developer's successors and assigns who specifically take this power in a recorded instrument, and shall terminate one (1) year from the date of termination of the Class "B" Control Period. The Developer shall have been given a written notice of all meetings and proposed actions approved at meetings of the Board or any committee thereof by certified mail, return receipt requested or by personal delivery at the address the Developer has registered with the Secretary of the Association as it may change from time to time, which notice complies as to the Board of Directors meetings. The Developer shall be given the opportunity at any such meeting to join in or to have its representatives or agents join in discussing from the floor of any prospective action, policy or program to be implemented by the board, any committee thereof, or the association. The Developer shall have the right to disapprove any policy or program authorized by the Board of Directors or any committee thereof and any action to be taken by the board, any committee thereof, the association or any individual member of the Association. This right may be exercised by the developer, the developer's representatives or agents at any time within ten (10) days following the meeting held pursuant to the terms and provisions hereof. No action by the Board shall be effective unless the Developer and/or Class "B" member have been given notice as above provided. Thereafter, each director shall serve a three (3) year term.

Section 2. Qualification. Except for those persons making up the Interim Board, each Director shall be a Lot Owner or spouse of a Lot Owner (or, if a Lot Owner is a trustee of a trust, a Director may be a beneficiary of such trust, and if a Lot Owner or such a beneficiary is a corporation or partnership, a Director may be an officer, partner or employee of such Lot Owner or beneficiary). If a Director shall cease to meet such qualifications during his term, such Director shall cease to be a Director and his or her place on the Board shall be deemed vacant.

Section 3. Regular Meetings. Except as otherwise provided herein, regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and place as the Board of Directors shall determine from time to time, but no less frequently than once each calendar year

Section 4. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or by any two (2) Directors upon notice as provided herein.

Section 5. Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided herein, regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice of the date, time, place, or purpose of the meeting. Except as otherwise provided herein, special meetings of the Board of Directors must be preceded by at least two (2) days' notice to each Director of the date, time and place, but not the purpose, of such special meeting. Notice of any adjourned meeting need not be given if the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned are fixed at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken, and if the period of adjournment does not exceed one (1) month in any one (1) adjournment.

Section 6. Waiver of Notice. If a Director attends or participates in a meeting, he or she waives any required notice to him or her of the meeting unless the Director at the beginning of the meeting (or promptly upon arrival) objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.

Section 7. Quorum and Voting. A quorum of the Board of Directors consists of a majority (but no fewer than two (2)) of the Directors then in office before a meeting begins. If a quorum is present when a vote is taken, the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors present is the act of the Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws.

Section 8. Vacancy. If a vacancy occurs on the Board of Directors, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of Directors or a vacancy resulting from a removal of a Director with or without cause, the Board may fill the vacancy with a member who will serve the remainder of the unexpired term.

Any Director elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office for a term equal to the unexpired term of the Director succeeded. Notwithstanding the other provisions of these By-Laws, in the event the Developer chooses not to appoint a Director, it shall be the Board which shall by majority vote of the remaining Directors fill such vacancy, but only for a term of one (1) year at a time.

In these By-Laws, the term "Developer" shall also include any successor or assign of Developer. Class "B" member shall include Developer and any successor or assign.

Section 9. Removal of Directors. The Lot Owners may remove any Director(s) (except those appointed by the Class "B" Member), with or without cause, at any special meeting that is specifically called for that purpose.

Section 10. Action Without Meeting. Action that is required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without such a meeting if all Directors consent to taking such action without a meeting. If all Directors so consent, the affirmative vote of the number of Directors that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting shall be the act of the Board, except as otherwise provided in these By-laws. Such consent(s) shall describe the action taken, be in writing, be signed by each Director entitled to vote, indicate each signing Director's vote or abstention on the action, and be delivered to the Secretary of the Association and included in the minutes filed with the Association's records.

Section 11. Insurance. The Board of Directors shall purchase director's and officer's insurance which will also cover members who are serving on the committees. With respect to claims or liabilities arising out of service as a Director of the Association, the Association shall indemnify and advance expenses to each present and future Director (and his or her estate, heirs, and personal representatives) to the fullest extent allowed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, both as now in effect and as hereafter adopted or amended.

Section 12. Immunity. To the fullest extent allowed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, both as now in effect and as hereafter adopted or amended, each present and future Director (and his her estate, heirs, and personal representatives) shall be immune from suit arising from the conduct of the affairs of the Association.

Section 13. Compensation. Directors shall receive no compensation for their services as directors, unless expressly provided for in resolutions duly adopted by the Lot Owners.

Section 14. Powers and Duties. The Board shall have the following powers and duties:

to elect and remove the officers of the Association as hereinafter provided;

to administer the affairs of the Association and the Property;

to engage the services of an agent (hereinafter sometimes called the "Managing Agent") to maintain, repair, replace, administer and operate the Property or any part thereof for all of the Lot Owners, upon such terms and for such compensation and with such authority as the Board may approve to act as Managing Agent for the Property for a term as approved by the First Board.

to formulate policies for the administration, management and operation of the Common Elements and Open Spaces thereof and to do all things necessary for the enforcement thereof;

to adopt and enforce rules and regulations, with written notice thereof to all Lot Owners, governing the administration, management, operation and use of the Property and the Common Elements and the Open Spaces, and to amend such rules and regulations from time to time:

to provide for the maintenance, repair, and replacement of the Common Elements and Open Space and payments therefor, and to approve payment vouchers or to delegate such approval the officers or the Managing Agent;

to provide for the designation, hiring and removal of employees and other personnel, including accountants and attorneys, and to engage or contract for the services of others, and to make purchases for the maintenance, repair, replacement, administration, management and operation of the Property and the Common Elements and the Open Space, and to delegate any such powers to the Managing Agent;

to appoint committees of the Board and to delegate to such committees the Board's authority to carry out certain duties of the Board;

to determine the fiscal year of the Association and to change said fiscal year from time to time as the Board deems advisable, but only as allowed by law;

to estimate the amount of the annual budget, and to provide the manner of assessing and collecting from the Lot Owners their respective shares of such estimated expenses, as hereinafter provided;

unless otherwise provided herein, to comply with the instructions of a majority of the Lot Owners as expressed in a resolution duly adopted at any annual or special meeting of the Lot Owners;

to resolve or mediate disputes, conflicts or problems between Lot Owners;

when necessary, to interpret the rules and regulations of the Association Restrictive Covenants.

to determine and assess the amount each lot owner of Wofford Estates, must pay on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis for that lot owner's fractional share of the maintenance and repair of recreational amenities and open space on the property; and

to borrow money for any purpose and to execute and loan documents which are necessary to effectuate such loans, upon such terms and conditions as the Board sees fit.

Section 15. Non-Delegation. Nothing in this Article or elsewhere in these By-laws shall be considered to grant to the Board, the Association or to the officers of the Association any powers or duties which, by law, have been delegated to the Lot Owners.

ARTICLE III
Officers

- **Section 1. Designation**. At each regular meeting, the Directors present at said meeting shall elect the following officers of the Association by a majority vote, provided a quorum exists:
 - a President, who shall be a Director and who shall preside over the meetings of the Board and of the Lot Owners, and who shall be the chief executive officer of the Association:
 - a Secretary, who shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the Board and of the Lot Owners meetings, and who shall, in general, perform ail the duties incident to the office of Secretary, and who may be a representative of the Managing Agent;
 - a Treasurer, who shall be responsible for financial records and books of account and the manner in which such records and books are kept and reported, however the Treasurer may delegate the day to day business to the managing agent; and

such additional officers as the Board shall see fit to elect.

- **Section 2. Powers.** The respective officers shall have the general powers usually vested in such officers; provided that the Board may delegate any specific powers to any other officer or impose such limitations or restrictions upon the powers of any officer as the Board may see fit.
- **Section 3. Term of Office.** Each officer shall hold office for the term of one (1) year and until a successor shall have been appointed or elected and qualified.
- **Section 4. Vacancies.** Vacancies in any office shall be filled by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of the remaining Directors at a special meeting of said Board. Any Director so elected to fill a vacancy all hold office for a term equal to the unexpired term of the officer succeeded.
- **Section 5. Compensation**. The officers shall receive no compensation for their services as officers, unless expressly provided for in a resolution duly adopted by the Lot Owners.
- Section 6. Removal. The Board of Directors may remove any officer at any time with or without cause.

ARTICLE IV Assessments

- Section 1. Annual Budget. The Board shall cause to be prepared an estimated annual budget each fiscal year of the Association. Such budget shall take into account the estimated expenses and cash requirements for the year, including but not limited to salaries, wages, payroll taxes, legal and accounting fees, working capital fund, supplies, materials, parts, services, maintenance, repairs, replacements, landscaping, insurance, fuel, power, and all other necessary expenses. To the extent that the assessments and other cash income collected from the Lot Owners during the preceding year shall be more or less than the expenditures for such preceding year, the surplus or deficit, as the case may be, shall also be taken into account. The annual budget shall also take into account any estimated net available cash income for the year from the lease, operation or use of the Common Elements and Open Space. The annual budget shall provide for a reserve contingencies for the year and a reserve for replacements, in reasonable amounts as determined by the Board.
- Section 2. Assessments. The estimated annual budget for each fiscal year shall be approved by the Board, and copies thereof shall be furnished by the Board to each Lot Owner, not later than thirty (30) days prior to the beginning of such year. Lot Owner is defined as all Class "A" members and excludes all Class "B" members. On or before the first day of the first month of the year covered by the annual budget, each Lot Owner shall pay such Owner's respective yearly assessment for the common expenses as shown by the annual Budget. Such proportionate share for each Lot Owner shall be based upon a fractional interest the numerator of which shall be the number of lots owned by the Lot Owner and the denominator shall be the total number of lots in such Lot Owners section of the Subdivision. In the event that the Board shall not approve an estimated annual budget or shall fail to determine new yearly assessments for any

year, or shall be delayed in doing so, each Lot Owner shall continue to pay each year the amount of such Owner's respective yearly assessment as last determined. Each Lot Owner shall pay such Owner's yearly assessment on or before the first day of the year to the Managing Agent or as may be otherwise directed by the Board. No Lot Owner shall be relieved of the obligation to pay such Owner's assessment by abandoning or not using such Owner's Lot, the Common Elements or Open Spaces.

Section 3. Partial Year or Month. For the first fiscal year and thereafter until the First Board is elected, the annual budget shall be approved by the Interim Board. If such first fiscal year, or any succeeding fiscal year, shall be less than a full year, then the yearly assessments for each Lot Owner shall be proportionate to the number of months and days in such period covered by such budget.

Section 4. Annual Report. Within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year covered by an annual budget, or as soon thereafter as shall be practicable, the Board shall cause to be furnished to each Lot Owner, and to any other necessary party, a statement for such year so ended, showing the receipts and expenditures and such other information as the Board may deem desirable.

Section 5. Supplemental Budget. In the event that during the course of any year, it shall appear to the Board that the monthly assessments, determined in accordance with the estimated expenses for the remainder of such year will be inadequate, then the Board shall prepare and approve a supplemental budget covering the estimated deficiency for the remainder of such year, copies of which supplemental budget shall be furnished to each Lot Owner, and thereupon a supplemental assessment shall be made to each Lot Owner for such Owner's proportionate share of such supplemental budget.

Section 6. Lot Owners described in these By-Laws is defined as all Class "A" members and excludes all Class "B" members.

Section 7. Lien. It shall be the duty of every Lot Owner to pay such Owner's proportionate share of the expenses of the Association, and as assessed in the manner herein provided.

If any Lot Owner shall fail or refuse to make any such payment of such expenses when due, the amount thereof, together with interest thereon as set by the Board after said expenses become due and payable, shall constitute a lien, enforceable by the Board, on the interest of such Lot Owner in the Property, provided, however, that such lien shall be subordinate to the lien of a recorded deed of trust on the interest of such Lot Owner, except for the amount of the proportionate share of expenses which are due and payable from and after the date on which such deed of trust beneficiary either takes possession of the Lot, accepts a conveyance of any interest therein (other than as security), or files suit to foreclose or otherwise forecloses on its deed of trust.

The lien created hereby shall be perfected by the Board by the filing of a Notice of Lien in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Montgomery County, Tennessee setting forth the following:

The name of the delinquent owner;

The legal description and street address of the Lot against which the claim of lien is made;

The total amount claimed to be due and owing for the amount of delinquency, interest thereon, collection costs and reasonable attorney's fees;

That the claim is against the described property in an amount equal to the amount stated, together with all other amounts becoming due from time to time in accordance with these By-Laws.

The Notice of Lien may be signed by the president of the Board and attested by the Secretary of the Board or may be signed by the Managing Agent of the Association, if there be such agent.

Such lien may be enforced by the Association using the procedures in Tennessee Code Annotated §35-5-101 et seq. In addition to any other remedies, suit may be brought by the Association for enforcement, requesting a judgment against the defaulting Lot Owner. The Lot Owner shall pay all of the attorney's fees and expenses incurred as a result of enforcement by suit, foreclosure or otherwise of the Association. Each Lot Owner hereby expressly waives homestead and all other statutory and common law exemptions in and to the subject property. Furthermore, if any Lot Owner shall fail or refuse to pay when due such Owner's proportionate share of the expenses, the Association through the Board may assess such fines, special assessments and payment of expenses as are reasonable and made necessary by such failure or refusal by the Lot Owner. The Board or the Association shall have the authority to exercise and enforce any and all rights and remedies as provided for in the Restrictive Covenants or these Bylaws, or as are otherwise available at law or in equity, for the collection of all unpaid assessments.

Section 8. Records and Statement of Account. The Board shall cause to be kept detailed and accurate records in a book in chronological order of the receipts and expenditures affecting the Common Elements and open Space, specifying and itemizing the expenses incurred. Payment vouchers may be approved in such manner as the Board may determine. Said book and the vouchers shall be available for examination by all Lot Owners at convenient hours on working days which shall be set and announced for general knowledge.

The Board shall, upon receipt of ten (10) days written notice to it or the Association and upon payment of a reasonable fee, furnish to any Lot Owner a statement of account setting forth the amount of any unpaid assessments or other charges due and owing from such Lot Owner.

Section 9. Discharge of Liens. The Board may cause the Association to discharge any mechanics lien or other encumbrance that in the opinion of the Board may constitute a lien against Property or the Common Elements and Open Spaces, rather than a lien against only a particular Lot ownership. When fewer than all the Lot Owners are responsible for the existence of any such lien, the Lot Owners responsible shall be jointly and severally liable for the amount necessary to discharge the same and for all costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by reason of such lien.

Section 10. Holding of Funds. All funds collected hereunder shall be held and expended for the purposes designated herein, and (except for such special assessments as may be levied hereunder against less than all the Lot Owners and for such adjustments as may be required to reflect delinquent or prepaid assessments) shall be deemed to be held for the benefit, use account of all the Lot Owners.

Section 11. Association Records. The Association shall keep as permanent records minutes of all meetings of its Lot Owners and Board of Directors, a record of all actions taken by the Lot Owners and the Board of Directors without a meeting and all appropriate accounting records.

Section 12. Records at Principal Office. The Association shall keep at all times a copy of the 'wing records at its principal office:

Its Charter or Restated Charter and all amendments thereto;

These Bylaws and all amendments thereto;

Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors relating to the characteristics, qualifications, rights, limitations and obligations of Lot Owners or any class or category of Lot Owners;

The minutes of all meetings of Lot Owners and the records of all actions taken by lot Owners without a meeting for the past three (3) years;

All written communications to Lot Owners generally within the past three (3) years, including the past three (3) years annual financial statements;

A list of the names and business or home addresses of its current Directors and officers; and

The most recent annual report delivered to the Tennessee Secretary of State.

Any Unit Owner may request copies of any of the above documents, provided the Unit Owner pays any copying charges or other expenses of the Association in providing such copies.

Section 13. Annual Financial Statements. The Association shall prepare annual financial statements that include a balance sheet as of the end of the fiscal year, an income statement for that year, and such other information necessary to comply with the requirements of the applicable provisions of the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act.

ARTICLE V Contractual Powers

No contract or other transaction between the Association and one or more of its Directors or between the Association and any corporation, firm or association in which one or more of the Directors of the Association are directors, or are financially interested, is void or voidable because such Director or Directors are present at the meeting of the Board or a committee thereof which authorizes or approves the contract or transaction or because his or their votes are counted, if the circumstances specified in either of the following subparagraphs exists:

the fact of the common directorship or financial interest is disclosed or known to the Board or committee and noted in the minutes and the Board or committee authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction in good faith by a vote sufficient for the purpose without counting the vote or votes of such Director or Directors; or

the contract or transaction is just and reasonable as to the corporation at the time it is authorized or approved.

the fact of a relative or partnership interest is disclosed or known to the Board or Committee and noted in the minutes and the Board or Committee authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction in good faith by a vote sufficient for the purpose without counting the vote or votes of such Director or Directors.

Common or interested Directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board or a committee thereof which authorizes, approves or ratifies a contract or transaction

ARTICLE VI Amendments

These Bylaws may be amended or modified from time to time by action or approval of two-thirds (2/3) of the Lot Owners casting one (1) vote for each Lot owned, as provided in Article I, Section 7 of these Bylaws. Such amendment(s) shall not be operative until they are recorded in the Register's of Deeds Office for Montgomery County, Tennessee. These Bylaws may not be amended by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII Deeds of Trust

- **Section 1. Notice to Board.** Upon request of the Board, the Lot Owner will disclose any lien or mortgage holder or the holder of any deed of trust and will provide any and all addresses to any such lender and will disclose the balance of any indebtedness secured by said lien or deed of trust or mortgage.
- **Section 2. Notice of Unpaid Common Charges.** The Board, whenever so requested in writing deed of trust beneficiary of a Lot, shall promptly report any then unpaid assessments, fees or common charges due from, or any default by, the Owner of the mortgaged Lot.
- **Section 3.** Notice of **Default**. The Board must give notice to a Lot Owner of a default in paying common charges or other default.
- **Section 4. Examination of Books**. Each Lot Owner, and others as specified herein, shall be permitted to examine the books and records of the Association, current copies of the Charter and Bylaws, and rules and regulations of the Association, and Restrictive Covenants during normal business hours and upon written request.
- Section 5. Interest of Valid First Lien Deed of Trust. The interest of a valid first lien deed of trust all be superior to the interest of the Board in the event of a default, and nothing in this instrument all be construed to the contrary. If the first lien deed of trust has incorporated the terms of these By-laws, in its deed of trust, then said first lien deed of trust may its option declare a default in its deed of trust by reason of any default hereunder, and may) proceed to enforce its rights according to the terms of the deed of trust, notwithstanding any enforcement instituted by the Board.

ARTICLE VIII Definition of Terms

"Deed of trust," as used herein, includes a mortgage; and "deed of trust beneficiary" includes a mortgagee and a holder of a deed of trust.

ARTICLE IX

Miscellaneous Provisions

- Section 1. No Seal. The Association shall have no seal.
- Section 2. Notices. Whenever notice is required to be given to Lot Owners, Directors or officers, unless otherwise provided by law, the Charter or these Bylaws, such notice may be given in person or by telephone, telegraph, mail or private carrier. If such notice is given by mail, it shall be sent postage prepaid by first class United States mail or by registered or certified United States mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to the respective address which appears for each such person on the books of the Corporation. Written notice sent by mail to Lot Owners shall be deemed to have been given when it is mailed.
- **Section 3. Waiver of Notice.** Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions any statute, or the Charter or these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person entitled to such notice, whether before or after the date stated thereon, and delivered to the Secretary of the Association and included in the minutes or corporate records, will be deemed equivalent thereto.
- **Section 4. Negotiable Instruments.** All checks, drafts, notes or other obligations of the Association shall be signed by such of the officers of the Association or by such other person(s), as may be authorized by the Board of Directors.
- **Section 5. Deposits.** The monies of the Association may be deposited in the name of the Association in such bank(s) or financial institution(s) as the Board of Directors shall designate from time to time and shall be drawn out by check signed by the officer(s) or person(s) designated by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors.
- **Section 6. Insurance**. The Association must procure a general liability insurance policy in such amount as the Board may deem appropriate, after seeking competent counsel regarding such amount.
- **Section 7. Developer.** With respect to claims or liabilities arising out of service as an agent of the Association, the Association shall indemnify and advance expenses to the Developer

(its officers, employees and successors) to the fullest extent allowed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, both as now in effect or as hereafter adopted or amended.

Section 8. General Responsibilities. The Association shall be responsible for payment of local taxes, and maintenance of recreational, drainage structures, or other facilities pertaining to the open space.

ARTICLE X Conflicts

These Bylaws are set forth to comply with the requirements of Chapter 27 of Title 66, Tennessee Code Annotated, as it may be amended from time to time, and to allow the By-laws to control in specific situations where such law allows. In case any of the By-laws conflict with the provisions of said statute, the provisions of said statute or of the shall control.

ARTICLE XI Amendment

Prior to conveyance of the first Unit, Developer may unilaterally amend these By-Laws. Thereafter, these By-Laws may be amended only by the affirmative vote (in person or by proxy) or written consent, or any combination thereof, of Class "A" Members representing two-thirds (2/3) of the total votes eligible to be cast and the written approval of the Class "B" Member, so long as the Class "B" membership exists. However, the percentage of votes necessary to amend a specific use shall not be less than the prescribed percentage of affirmative votes required for action to taken under that clause. No amendment shall be effective until recorded in the Register's Office for Montgomery County, Tennessee. Additionally, the Developer does reserved the unilateral right to amend these By-Laws in the event said amendment is required by any municipal, governmental, quasi-governmental institution or any permanent lending institution, including but not limited to FNMA, FHLMC, VA, Montgomery County, Tennessee, Clarksville, Tennessee.

The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing Bylaws were duly adopted as the Bylaws of WOFFORD ESTATES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

SECTION III APPLICABILITY TO OTHER SECTIONS OF WOFFORD ESTATES

The Owner or its successors or assigns may in the future elect to combine the provisions contained in these Restrictions and By-Laws to the subsequent sections of Wofford Estates developed in the future. To do so, as long as said property is a portion of that property described in Volume 1628, Page 1820, of the Register's Office for Montgomery County, Tennessee, Owner or its successors or assigns acting as Developer may record a set of Restrictions and By-laws identical to or very similar to these Restrictions and By-Laws and may provide that the provisions of the homeowner's association as described in Section II hereof and the Restrictions provided in Section I hereof shall also apply to the subsequently developed Sections. Thereafter, the Homeowners Association membership shall be combined for any such section of Wofford Estates and the restrictive covenants set out above shall apply to all homes constructed in any such section of Wofford Estates.

This Section III shall only apply to any subsequently developed section of Wofford Estates if it is clearly established that the intent of the Owner or its successor or assigns clearly evidences an intent to combine the membership and the applicability of the restrictive covenants to all lots within the contemplated sections of Wofford Estates.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner has executed the foregoing as of the date written first herein.

DOUBLE J PARTNERS, a Tennessee General

Partnership

BY:

VERNON WEAKLEY, Partne

STATE OF TENNESSEE

COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY

Personally appeared before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, J. VERNON WEAKLEY, with whom I am personally acquainted (or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence), and who, upon oath, acknowledged themselves to be the partner of DOUBLE J PARTNERS, a Tennessee General Partnership, the within named bargainor, and that they as such partners, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained, by signing the name of the Partnership by themselves as partners.

Witness my hand and seal, at office, on this the 19th day of March, 2024.

NOTARY PUBLIC

JIM CHERRY

STATE
OF
TENNESSEE
NOTARY
PUBLIC
GOMERY CON

My Commission Expires: 5-13-25